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The Cowan Bridge Controversy 
by CHRISTOPHER COOPER and OTHERS 

Talk given at the ABA meeting on 2 February 2013 

 
 One of the great debates in the world of literary theory is whether 

it is relevant to know about an authorôs life in studying his or her writing 

or whether the text should stand on its own. 

 At one extreme there are those who emphasise the creativity of the 

author and argue that a work should only be studied from within.  At the 

other end of the spectrum there are those who maintain that every 

literary work is to some extent an autobiography. 

 Like the nature/nurture debate in child psychology the answer lies 

somewhere in the middle.  Thereôs no such thing as pure originality.  

Every author draws upon their own experiences as the raw materials of 

their work, but then creates from it something new. 

 These experiences may come from the life of the writer or they 

may come from stories that they have read or heard.  Itôs hard to imagine 

Emily Brontë having many direct experiences along the lines of those in 

Wuthering Heights.  In her case her originality grew out of stories she 

had read and, perhaps more importantly, heard from the servants.  

Charlotte on the other hand drew mostly on her direct experiences. 

The exception was Shirley, of course, where she deliberately 

researched the historical accounts of the Luddite uprising as the 

framework.  But even there we can see the influence of her direct 

experiences, such as the remarkably funny account of the three curates 

in the opening chapter.  Her father often entertained young curates in the 

parsonage and she regarded most of them as ridiculous, even Arthur Bell 

Nicholls whom she eventually married. 

  

 When one finds an echo of something in the authorôs life in their 

writing it is tempting to assume that it is a faithful and accurate account.  

But, as we all know, the creativity of the author changes or exaggerates 

these personal experiences or combines different experiences into one 

description. 
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 When it comes to the Lowood School in Jane Eyre we all know 

that it is the Cowan Bridge School.  When the novel first appeared there 

were ex students and teachers who recognised their school even before 

they knew that its author, Currer Bell, was really Charlotte Brontë, who 

attended their school in its early days.  For this reason you have to 

conclude that it was an accurate picture in some respects.  But we must 

not imagine that the real school was anywhere as extreme as the fictional 

one. 

In the couple of years after Jane Eyre was published nobody 

identified the real and the fictional schools in print and so the 

controversy smouldered.  What fanned it into a roaring flame was the 

publication of Mrs Gaskellôs Life of Charlotte Brontë.  After Charlotteôs 

death in 1855, her friend Mrs Gaskell asked Mr Bront±ôs permission to 

write a biography and it appeared in 1857.  In it Mrs Gaskell left it in no 

doubt that Cowan Bridge School was every bit as bad as Lowood. 

By then the school had moved about 4 miles to Casterton, near 

Kirkby Lonsdale.  In 1857 the Carus Wilson family was still very much 

involved in Casterton School and were much distressed by the 

identification of Lowood with the earlier school.  Mrs Gaskell, who had 

taken the trouble to visit Casterton while doing the research for the Life, 

undoubtedly tried to be fair, but her sympathy with Charlotte's sufferings 

led her into criticisms of the school regime which Mr Carus Wilson and 

his supporters deeply resented and which provoked much 

correspondence, some of which we will hear later. 

 

As you know, ever since his wifeôs death, Patrick Brontë had been 

searching, unsuccessfully for a new wife for his five girls and son.  His 

sister-in-law, Elizabeth Branwell, had been filling in but was anxious to 

return to Cornwall, although she never did.  In 1823 Mr Brontë asked 

Elizabeth Firth for advice and she suggested her own school, Crofton 

Hall.  But a couple of months later he saw an advertisement for a new 

school that was to be opened in Cowan Bridge.  It was to be a school 

specifically for impoverished clergymenôs daughters.  Each girl was to 

pay Ã14 a year for clothing, lodging, boarding and education.  ñThe 

Education will be directed according to the Capacities of the Pupils, and 
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the Wishes of their Friends.  In all Cases, the great Object in View will 

be their intellectual and religious Improvement, and to give that plain 

and useful Education, which may best fit them to return with 

Respectability and Advantage to their own Homes, or to maintain 

themselves in the different Stations of Life to which Providence may call 

them.ò 

The fees were half those at Crompton Hall.  It seemed ideal.  The 

school consisted of some low stone cottages and an old bobbin mill next 

to a small river.  Only the cottages remain today. 

The school was designed to take up to seventy-two girls but as the 

school had only been opened a couples of months when Maria and 

Elizabeth arrived there in July 1824 there were only sixteen others.  In 

August Charlotte joined them and in November Emily started at the 

school. 

By February the next year Maria, the eldest Brontë child, fell 

seriously ill and Patrick fetched her home.  She died in May.  Later that 

month Elizabeth became ill and the three girls were sent to Silverdale on 

the coast.  It was hoped that Elizabethôs health might have improved 

with the sea air.  But Elizabeth became worse and she was sent home in 

the care of a servant.  Patrick immediately went to Silverdale to bring 

back his other two daughters, never to return.  Elizabeth died in the 

middle of June at the age of 10. 

Several other pupils died that year.  It is debatable whether it was 

due to neglect, or the unsuitable location in a river valley or because 

typhus was rampant at that time.  Nevertheless the school moved about 

four miles away to Casterton in a healthier environment. 

 

So what was life like at the school?  We have the account of 

Lowood School, but we have to be careful not to take that too literally.  

We have Charlotteôs account of the school when she wrote to W.S. 

Williams at her publishers, Smith Elder and Company.  She insists that 

her account of Lowood was quite accurate and indeed that she withheld 

some details to avoid being thought over sensational.  Then we have 

some descriptions by other pupils.  One pupil, Emma Jane Worboise, 

describes Carus Wilson as a ñkind and thoughtful friend of the pupilsò.  
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She said of him:  His works of love and mercy were manifold.  He was 

thoroughly sincere and unostentatiously generous. A kinder man I never, 

knew.ò  She tells of baskets of gooseberries being sent to the school and 

picnics at Carus Wilsonôs seaside home at Silverdale.  Miss Worboise 

wrote a novel Thornycroft Hall based on her time at Cowan Bridge.  

Admittedly she went to the school long after Charlotte did. 

 

So what can we piece together of life at the school in Charlotteôs 

time?  The girls slept two to a bed in a long dormitory over the 

schoolroom.  But this was usual in boarding schools at the time.  In one 

boarding school for boys in Yorkshire they slept three to a bed. 

The girls rose before dawn and washed in basins, sometimes after 

cracking the ice that formed ï one basin for every six girls.  Then there 

was an hour and a half of prayer before breakfast.  Breakfast, what there 

was of it, had to be gulped down in fifteen minutes before school began 

at nine. 

At twelve they had a short break for play until midday dinner.  

After this lessons resumed, finishing at five oôclock.  They then had a 

half a slice of bread and a small mug of coffee.  There was free time for 

half an hour then study.  Supper was a glass of water and a piece of 

oatcake.  Then prayers and bed. 

The Sunday routine was different.  They walked two miles across 

the fields to attend the Reverend Wilsonôs church at Tunstall.  After the 

service they had a cold packed lunch in the church, and then the 

afternoon service. 

Back across the field they went and as a special treat they were 

able to have a whole slice of bread and butter.  The evening was spent in 

suitable religious activities. 

The story about burnt porridge and foul smelling food in Jane Eyre 

may well have had a basis in fact.  The cook who was at Cowan Bridge 

school while the Brontë sisters were there was sacked shortly afterwards 

for being slovenly. 

Carus Wilsonôs wrote many religious books and tracts.  The 

Childrenôs Friend was a monthly magazine containing stories of 

missionaries and other stories with an evangelical flavour.  The issue of 
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December 1826 contains the story of Sarah Bicker who died in the 

previous September.  Charlotte and Emily would have known her.  

When she was asked if she was ready to die she said, ñNot Yet because I 

should wish to have time to repent, and be a better child.ò  The story 

ended with Carus Wilsonôs comment: ñI bless God that he has taken 

from us the child of whose salvation we have the best hope and may her 

death be the means of arousing many of her school fellows to seek the 

Lord while he may be found.ò  

This preoccupation with infant mortality strikes us as overly 

morbid, but it was not that unusual for the time.  The book Hymns For 

Infant Minds was awarded to a pupil at Cowan Bridge in 1826 and the 

title doesnôt sound particularly morbid.  But open it and look at the 

frontispiece is a picture of a little girl weeping at her motherôs grave.  

The caption reads ñOh! if she would but come again, I think Iôd vex her 

no more. 

In fact thinking back to my own childhood I am reminded of a pair 

of china bookends I got for Christmas.  One displayed a girl and the 

other a boy.  They were both leaning on tombstones which formed the 

straight edges that were against the books.  Itôs funny that only now does 

it seem a little morbid to me. 

 

So letôs hear the correspondence in various newspapers and 

periodicals following the publication of The Life of Charlotte Brontë.  

Charlotte is now dead, as is the Reverend Carus Wilson senior.  So it 

falls to his son to take up the fight on one side and to Arthur Bell 

Nicholls, Charlotteôs husband, to defend her side of the debate.  It is 

interesting that despite the fact that Nicholls hated conflict and publicity 

he felt he must defend his wife's honour. 

 

W. W. Carus Wilson TO THE LEEDS MERCURY   May 16, 1857 

Gentlemen, This letter from a lady who was a former superintendant of 

Cowan Bridge is a complete answer to the statements in The Life of 

Charlotte Brontë regarding my father's charitable institutions. 
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The columns of the leading papers have for some time past been 

occupied with obituary notices of the late Miss Brontë, and many 

conveying the impression that her treatment at the Clergy Daughters' 

School when at Cowan Bridge, was of a character not only to affect her 

health but to darken her prospects in after life. Now, as I have it in my 

power to refute these charges, I should consider myself guilty in a 

measure concerning them, did I not make known to the world the truth 

of the case, and thereby exonerate an excellent and eminently useful 

clergyman from the imputations cast on him in Jane Eyre, as well as 

vindicate an institution which has been to the poverty-stricken clergy a 

blessing of inestimable value. In July 1824, Mr Brontë arrived at Cowan 

Bridge with two of his daughters, Maria and Elizabeth; the children were 

so delicate that there were doubts whether they could be admitted into 

the school. They were received, and went on so well that their father 

brought in September two more, Charlotte and Emily. During both these 

visits Mr Brontë stayed at the school, sat at the table with the pupils, and 

saw the whole routine of the establishment. 

They all inherited consumption from their mother, and were taken 

home; none of them, as has been stated, had any attack of fever or died 

at the school. I can truly say that none of the pupils were denied a 

sufficient quantity of good food; they were never limited: meat, 

vegetables, and puddings daily in abundance; any statement to the 

contrary is most false. Charlotte was a bright, clever, happy little girl, 

never in disgrace. Let us hope that in caricaturing an institution which 

has been such a blessing to the daughters of her own church, she had no 

injurious motives, but, misled by a vivid imagination, and a dim 

recollection of thirty years, when she was but a child, she published in 

an unguarded moment, unmindful of the consequences, misstatements, 

the tendency of which has been to calumniate a most excellent 

institution, and to bring disgrace on religion. 

In addition to this ladyôs testimony we have the testimony of 

hundreds of pupils, who with their parents have gratefully acknowledged 

the advantages they received at these institutions, rather than the account 

of one, however talented, who when but a child of nine left the 

establishment, and has so ungenerously cast an odium upon him who 
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first planned such a help to our poorer clergy, and who has yearly 

undertaken the risk of the support of near 300 pupils and teachers, for, 

including a preparatory school, there are about 150 daughters of 

clergymen boarded, clothed, and educated, at only £14 a year each, 

including everything, and in the ñServants' School,ò above 100 girls 

trained for service, each paying only £10 a year. 

The schools are situated in Westmoreland, built on Mr Carus 

Wilson's property, half a mile from Casterton Hall, his residence. They 

stand amid beautiful scenery, on high and healthy situations. They 

require above £1,000 a year, in addition to the payments of the pupils, to 

cover all expenses. 

 

Arthur Bell Nicholls  TO THE LEEDS MERCURY  May 23,1857  

Gentlemen, On Saturday last you published, by request of Mr W. W. 

Carus Wilson, an extract from a review, containing, he says, ña complete 

answer to the statements regarding his father's charitable institutions.ò 

Now let us examine the ñcomplete answer,ò and see how these 

charges are disposed of. And first, Mr Carus Wilson assumes that these 

statements rest solely on the testimony ñof one who, when but a child of 

nine, left the establishmentò; a reference, however, to the Life of 

Charlotte Brontë will show that this is a false assumption. He praises the 

situation of the school, ñon Mr Carus Wilson's property, half a mile from 

Casterton Hall, high and healthyò; but he has not the candour to state 

that this description applies to the present site, and not to that referred to 

in Jane Eyre. 

He eulogises Mr Wilson's liberality, but omits to state that funds 

are raised from the public for the support of the establishment which Mr 

W. W. Carus Wilson modestly calls his ñfather's charitable institutionsò. 

He makes a somewhat erroneous statement respecting Mr Bront±ôs 

family; hazards some conjectures about the intentions of the author of 

Jane Eyre; and lays before us a bill of fare at Cowan Bridge ï ñMeat, 

vegetables, and puddings, daily in abundance.ò Very good! But what 

about the cooking that spoiled these provisions, boiled the puddings in 

unclean water, compounded the Saturday's nauseous mess from the 

fragments, accumulated in a dirty larder during the week, and too often 
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sent up the porridge, not merely burnt, but with offensive fragments of 

other substances discoverable in it? 

To the day of her death ñCurrer Bellò maintained that the picture 

drawn in Jane Eyre was on the whole a true picture of Cowan Bridge 

School, as she knew it by experience: that the institution was 

subsequently greatly improved she knew and stated in the same work in 

which she exposed its former mismanagement. 

Trusting to your sense of justice to give this letter a place in your 

Saturday's impression, I am, gentlemen, your obedient servant, 

A. B. Nicholls. 

 

Carus Wilson TO THE LEEDS MERCURY  May 28, 1857 

Gentlemen, ð If the Rev A. Nicholls will refer to the refutation which 

in your paper of last Thursday he endeavours to answer, he will see that 

I wished there had been space to have inserted all of the letter of the lady 

who was over the Cowan Bridge School when C. Brontë was there.  She 

wrote that during the Spring of 1825 a low fever, though not an alarming 

one, and the managers, naturally anxious to know if any local cause 

occasioned it, asked the doctorôs opinion of the food that had happened 

to be on the table. She recollected that he spoke rather scornfully of a 

baked rice pudding, but as the ingredients were rice, sugar and milk, its 

effects could hardly have been so serious as have been affirmed. 

In addition to the above, my father has denied the accounts in Jane 

Eyre, and declared he was most particular about the food at Cowan 

Bridge. 

I leave your readers to form their own judgment between the 

testimony of this lady and my father, and a child who left the institution 

when but nine years old. 

If there are any besides, perhaps a dismissed pupil or teacher, who 

can bear out C Bront±ôs assertions, there are many more Cowan Bridge 

pupils who have written to me during the last month saying ñhow happy 

they were there, how all loved my father, how entirely false the 

character Mrs Gaskell has sketched of him, and how good the food was, 

better (some have said) than they got at their own home.ò 
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Mr Nicholls complains of the expression ñmy father's charitable 

institutionsò. It was my father who first established them, had them built 

on his own property, collected single-handed for thirty years all 

subscriptions for them, running the risk himself of their yearly support, 

and thereby doing for his brother clergy what no other man has done. No 

Committee of Management was formed till about six years ago, when 

ill -health obliged my father to live abroad. 

Mr Nicholls is surprised that no defence was made on the 

publication of Jane Eyre. But that was a novel, and persons and places 

were not publicly and certainly identified till the obituary notices of the 

press in 1855 and the memoir of Charlotte Brontë appeared. It was in 

1855 that the letter was written by the lady who was over Cowan Bridge 

School, when Charlotte Brontë was there. 

It is only natural that Mr Nicholls should seek to defend his wifeôs 

assertions, but considering that to add force to her fiction she casts 

odium on an invaluable institution, and a public benefactor to mankind, 

which as Mrs Gaskell says she often afterwards regretted, I think Mr 

Nicholls should be the first to share in that regret and to repair the great 

injury that has been done. ï  Yours, etc., W. W. Carus Wilson. 

 

Arthur Bell Nicholls TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  June 6, 1857 

Sir, Let me thank Mr Wilson for his last letter. In his former statement 

all was perfection at Cowan Bridge, now we have the following points 

admitted. That ñduring the spring of 1825 there prevailed a low fever, 

though not an alarming oneò (what would alarm Mr Wilson if the illness 

of about forty girls failed to do so?); that ñthe doctor rather scornfullyò 

condemned the girlsô food.  But mark how easily Mr Wilson disposes of 

adverse testimony ï ñif there are any besides Charlotte Brontë, perhaps a 

dismissed pupil or teacher.ò 

Now even at the risk of incurring such a summary dismissal I 

cannot forbear giving him the following extract from a letter which I 

have received from a former pupil at Cowan Bridge: 

ñOn first reading Jane Eyre several years ago I recognised 

immediately the picture there drawn, and was far from considering it any 

way exaggerated; in fact, I thought at the time, and still think the matter 
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rather understated than otherwise. I suffered so severely from the 

treatment that I was never in the schoolroom during the last three 

months I was there, until about a week before I left, and was considered 

to be far gone in consumption. My mother (whose only child I was) was 

never informed of my illness, and I might certainly have died there 

without her being informed of it, had not a severe illness of her own 

caused her hastily to summon me home. She was so much shocked at 

my appearance that she refused to allow me to return, though pressed to 

do so. I attribute my illness to the unhealthy situation of the school, the 

long walks to church in bad weather (for in winter our feet were often 

wet during the whole of the service), and the scanty and ill-prepared 

food. The housekeeper was very dirty with the cooking. I have 

frequently seen grease swimming on the milk and water we had for 

breakfast, in consequence of its having been boiled in a greasy copper, 

and I perfectly remember once being sent for a cup of tea for a teacher, 

who was ill in bed, and no spoon being at hand, the housekeeper stirred 

it with her finger, she being engaged in cutting up raw meat at the time. I 

could give you scores of such instances as these which fell under my 

own observation. Our food was almost always badly cooked, and 

besides that we certainly had not enough of it, whatever may be said to 

the contrary. 

In a word, the system at Cowan Bridge was a very harsh one, and I 

was very glad to hear that an improvement took place after the school 

was removed to Casterton, for it was much needed. I had no knowledge 

whatever of Mrs Nicholls personally, therefore my statement may fairly 

be considered an impartial one. You are quite welcome to make what 

use you think proper of this letter.ò 

 

Sarah Baldwin TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  June 13, 1857 

Sir, It gives me inexpressible pain to see the repeated attempts made, by 

the distortion and exaggeration of facts, and what looks very like wilful 

misrepresentations of character, to disparage a valuable institution, and 

to cast odium upon a venerated minister of our church, who has spent his 

best days in energetic labours in his Masterôs cause, and for the benefit 

of the families of his poorer brethren in the ministry. 
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As an old pupil, both of the school at Cowan Bridge, and at 

Casterton, I claim to be heard. 

Charlotte Brontë was, if I have been correctly informed, a pupil at 

Cowan Bridge about nine months. I was a pupil there for two years; and 

subsequently at Casterton for more than seven years; thus my residence 

extended over a period of more than nine years. 

I was one of the victims of that visitation of fever at Cowan 

Bridge, about which so much has been said, and to this hour I have a 

vivid recollection of the motherly care and attention I received, and the 

tender solicitude shown towards me on that trying occasion. Nor have I 

the slightest reason to think that I was treated better than my fellow-

pupils. Nor do I for a moment believe that the fever took its rise from the 

quantity or quality of the food provided, but was introduced to the 

school from the village, or by a pupil returning to the school. 

I solemnly affirm that our food was uniformly abundant, good, and 

generally well cooked; but no reasonable person could expect that in a 

large establishment like that, any more than in a private family, a failure 

in cooking should not sometimes happen. 

And as to the pupils walking to the church in wet weather, and 

sitting the whole time of service with wet and cold feet, I do not say this 

never occurred; but this I do say, that it was the usual practice for the 

pupils not to go to church in wet weather, but to have prayers and a 

sermon at the school; so that this occurrence must have been rare indeed. 

The character of the founder of that institution has been cruelly and 

falsely assailed, as all who know him will readily admit; but he will 

think it no dishonour ñto suffer for righteousnessô sake.ò 

It would be almost too much to expect that no injury should be 

sustained by the institution from the repeated attacks made upon it with 

such perverse energy; most thankful therefore should I be could I enlist 

the sympathies of the wealthy in this locality in its behalf, and add to the 

numbers of its subscribers. I know of no institution that has a stronger 

claim to the sympathies and support of the Christian Church. 

Trusting to your sense of justice and impartiality to insert this in 

your next publication, ð I remain, sir, your obedient servant. 
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Arthur Bell Nicholls TO THE HALIFAX G UARDIAN  July 4, 1857 

Sir, ð Mrs Baldwin says that she has ñhad more ample opportunities of 

forming a judgment on the management of Cowan Bridge School than 

Charlotte Bront±.ò  Now, Charlotte Brontë described the institution as 

she found it. Mrs Baldwin was not there at the time, consequently she 

cannot personally know whether the statements in Jane Eyre are true or 

false. Hear the testimony of a lady who was at the school with Miss 

Brontë: ð ñI would rather see a child of mine in its grave than subjected 

to the treatment I endured, and which I shall never forget.ò 

Mrs Baldwin, after informing us that she is ñpreparing to send two 

of her own dear little girlsò (a first instalment, I presume) to ñthe 

charitable institutionò already so liberally patronised by her family, 

proceeds to do a little congenial business, and with exquisite taste 

presents a begging box to the Halifax gentry. Surely such a graceful and 

disinterested appeal cannot be made in vain. 

 

Sarah Baldwin TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  July 11, 1857 

Sir, ð Mr Nichollsô letter is written in a style so coarse and unusual 

among educated people, that it is quite undeserving of notice, and would 

have been allowed to pass at once into oblivion, but for one or two 

misstatements it contains. 

He intimates that because I was not at the school at the identical 

time with Charlotte Brontë, therefore I cannot know whether the 

statements in Jane Eyre be true or false. I do not pretend to know by 

personal observation whether all these statements are true or not; but I 

have very satisfactory evidence, of a personal nature and of other kinds, 

that they are not; and especially so to Mr Wilson, the accusations against 

whom, and the misrepresentations of whose character are, to my mind, 

the gravest part of the whole question. I think I may be allowed to speak 

with some confidence, because for nearly ten years I knew him 

intimately, and had full opportunity of observing his religious character, 

his temper, disposition, and general treatment of the pupils; and it was 

such as to produce in me, and in the good majority of them, feelings of 

unaffected love and veneration. This testimony is founded upon nearly 

ten yearsô experience. Charlotte Brontë speaks only from personal 
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observation and experience, extending over a period of nine months and 

when she was a mere child, a little more than nine years old. I went to 

the school at Cowan Bridge about a year after she left, when, I believe, 

the state of things was much as during her stay there. 

With your permission, I will now give the testimony of one of the 

first pupils at Cowan Bridge.  As a pupil at Cowan Bridge in its first 

days, I feel it a privilege to be able to bear testimony in direct opposition 

to Miss Brontë. I could mention many interesting little incidents 

corroborative of my opposite testimony, calculated to account for the 

affectionate feeling with which I myself, and my fellow-pupils, regarded 

the kind Carus Wilson family. I have not read Jane Eyre, for I felt it a 

waste of time to read tales founded on falsehoods; but when I have heard 

remarks made upon it, and now on the Memoir, it has afforded me 

satisfaction to refute the ungrateful slander cast on Mr Wilson, and to 

bear my testimony to the practical consistency of his character, which, 

with me, gave weight to all his religious instructions. My annual 

subscription for many years to the school betokens my interest in it; and 

I now send a little donation as a further proof of my regard for him and 

it.ò 

This is one of more than three hundred letters that have been 

received by Mr W. W. Wilson within the last few weeks, almost all 

grieving over the assertions made in Jane Eyre and in the Life of 

Charlotte Brontë, which crush entirely any testimony that can be 

produced to the contrary. 

The Miss Temple of Jane Eyre is exhibited in a most favourable 

light by Charlotte Brontë herself, and is spoken of in highly eulogistic 

terms by the authoress of the Life of Charlotte Brontë. The following is 

from a clergyman, the husband of the lady who is represented under the 

name of Miss Temple, and who died only last year. ñOften,ò he says, 

ñhave I heard my late dear wife speak of her sojourn at Cowan Bridge. I 

never heard her speak otherwise than in terms of admiration at Mr Carus 

Wilson's personal sacrifices, and of the parental affection he manifested 

towards the pupils. Of the food and treatment of the children she always 

spoke in terms of general approval. I have heard her allude to some 

unfortunate cook, who used at times to spoil the food, but she said she 
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was soon dismissed.ò This testimony from such a quarter is strong 

indeed. 

I have as little inclination as Mr Nicholls to continue the 

correspondence, especially as it is conducted by himself in defiance of 

all the rules of courtesy and propriety. Having borne my humble, but 

most conscientious, testimony in this matter on the side of truth and 

justice, I am so far satisfied. With many thanks for your kind indulgence. 

 

Carus Wilson TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  July 18, 1857 

Sir, I donôt wish to make any defence for Mrs Baldwin. Your readers 

will, I  am sure, agree with me, that she is quite able to take care of 

herself: neither do I wish to notice the strain of Mr Nichollsô letter, at 

which many have expressed to me (to use the lightest term) their 

astonishment; but I hope I may now be able to close this controversy by 

saying, that in a correspondence I have had with Mrs Gaskell, I have 

found her most willing to rectify the injury she has done to my father 

and his institutions, and I believe her third edition will be a work which 

none can cavil at, but all extol. 

I gladly do her justice in saying that I am sure she only desires to 

elicit truth. I do think she is more to blame than C. Brontë, for having 

too much endorsed as facts the exaggerated fictions of Jane Eyre. 

C. Brontë's wonderful writings being but novels, we must allow 

her gifted pen more licence. 

It has been said that the statements of pupils who were not at 

school with C. Brontë are of no avail. But I have seen the testimony of 

teachers and pupils who were with her, and those who followed her, as 

did Mrs Baldwin (who finds from her father now that she was at Cowan 

Bridge for a much longer period than she stated in her first letter), would 

surely have heard of the horrors depicted in Jane Eyre, if they had had 

any reality. And as regards my fatherôs conduct towards the pupils, those 

at Casterton, as well as Cowan Bridge can give evidence about that. 

I am ready to give your readers the addresses of any of my 

correspondents and I only wish they could read a tithe of the letters I 

have had from old pupils. 
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Shortly after C. Brontë left Cowan Bridge, which has been 

designated as a second Dotheboys Hall, the late Bishop of London 

visited the school, after an examination of the classes, and a careful 

inspection of the whole establishment, observed to my father, that ñif it 

should please God to deprive his daughters of their parents, he knew no 

institution where he could more desire them to be placed.ò  I do trust that 

this letter may close this controversy. 

 

Arthur Bell Nicholls TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  July 18, 1857 

Sir, I regret to find that Mrs Baldwin takes such strong exception to my 

last letter, but if she indulges in charges of ñdistortion and exaggeration 

of facts and wilful misrepresentation,ò she must not feel surprised if she 

be answered in a manner less gentle than one would wish to use in 

replying to a lady. 

She cannot, it seems, perceive the fallacy in her argument, and yet 

it is very plain. She assumes that because the management was good in 

her time, it must have been so always. With equal correctness might she 

argue that because she is now in a position to ñsend two of her dear little 

girls' to this charitable institution,ò she has been always in a similar 

interesting situation. For the statements I have made I have produced 

proof. Mr Wilson's friends have not, that I am aware of, produced the 

testimony of a single pupil who was at the institution with Charlotte 

Brontë. 

Mrs Baldwin says she went to Cowan Bridge about a year after 

Miss Brontë left it. This can hardly be so, for in that case she must have 

been sixteen years at school instead of nine, as she says herself. This, 

however, is of little consequence. I merely wish to point out the 

inconsistency. But contrast the testimony of a lady who did go to the 

school at that time. 

The following extract is from a letter addressed to me by her 

husband, a clergyman: ð ñFeeling interested, in common with 

thousands, in the fame of C Brontë, and indignant at the aspersions cast 

on her veracity, I think it may not be disagreeable to you to receive from 

an independent source a statement confirmatory in some respects of the 
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account of the Clergy Daughters' School given by your late lamented 

wife. 

My own wife and one of her sisters were educated at Cowan 

Bridge, entering shortly after Miss Brontë left, and remaining there five 

years. At the time of their entrance, the school was considered to be in a 

course of progressive improvement, and my wife makes no complaint of 

dirt, but her account of the food supplied during the early part of her 

residence is very unfavourable in respect to the quantity and quality. 

The breakfast consisted of ill-made porridge, without bread. Many 

girls from the southern counties, unused to such food at home, could not 

eat it, and for six months my wife and her sister had no breakfast 

whatever. On one occasion it was observed that her sister was not taking 

her porridge. She was required to eat it. Attempting to do so, her 

stomach rejected it, upon which she was treated, not to a meal of bread 

or other wholesome food, but to a strong dose of senna tea. 

The dinner was sufficient, but not good. The evening meal 

consisted of a cup of milk and water, and one small piece of bread, not 

weighing two ounces. 

Many of the girls being thus always hungry, there were continual 

attempts to procure bread clandestinely. This was brought to light by the 

following incident. It was usual for each pupil to repeat on Sunday 

morning a text of her own choice; and one, who had, I believe, been 

punished for stealing bread, repeated in her turn the verse which declares 

that men do not despise a thief who steals bread to satisfy his hunger. 

This girl died shortly after of consumption. 

My own wife, on her return home for the first vacation, was 

considered by her family to be half starved, and her brother, a medical 

man, has told me, that in his opinion, her health suffered for years from 

the consequences of insufficient nourishment. 

My sole desire in this controversy has been to defend the dead 

from the aspersions cast on her by interested individuals. Against the 

Clergy Daughters' School, as at present conducted, the author of Jane 

Eyre has not written a line, nor have I. The management is, I am told, 

unexceptionable. I am, sir, your much obliged and obedient servant,  
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Sarah Baldwin TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  August 1, 1857 

Sir, Mr Nicholls's misapprehension as to the duration of my residence at 

the school is easily rectified. The only uncertainty in my mind was the 

date of the removal of the school from Cowan Bridge to Casterton; it 

was at a later period than I thought; so that I was at Cowan Bridge a 

longer, and at Casterton a shorter, period than I at first stated. This, it 

will be perceived, adds some strength to my former testimony. 

In dismissing, as I hope finally, this subject, I must observe that in 

what I have said I have been influenced only by a regard for justice and 

truth, and of gratitude to Mr Wilson. The school and Mr Wilson were 

misrepresented and misunderstood, and no voice lifted up here in 

defence. Many of my former fellow-pupils in other parts of the country 

had stood forward with their favourable testimony. I felt constrained to 

use my feeble powers and influence in the same cause. I feel thankful 

that I have done so, and thus been enabled to discharge in some small 

degree the debt of gratitude I, in common with the hundreds, owe to the 

excellent and benevolent founder of the school. 

 

Arthur Bell Nicholls TO THE HALIFAX GUARDIAN  Aug 8, 1857 

Sir, The question, stripped of extraneous matter, is simply this: What 

was the state of the school during the time that Miss Brontë was there? 

She and others described the treatment as harsh; the food as 

indifferent and insufficient. Up started Mrs Baldwin, and, asserting her 

own superior means of information, said in effect: Don't believe a word 

of it; hear me. I went to Cowan Bridge seven years (according to Mr 

Wilson's date) after C Brontë left, and ñI solemnly affirm that the food 

was uniformly abundant and good.ò I pointed out to her that she could 

not personally know whether the statements were true or not, because 

she was not at this charitable institution at the time referred to. She then 

said: ñI do not pretend to know by personal observation whether the 

statements are true or not. I went to the school about a year after she left, 

when, I believe, the state of things was much as during her stay.ò How 

conclusive! But Mr Wilson has ñ300 testimonialsò in his favour ï he 

may have 500 ï and all just as worthless as Mrs Baldwinôs, unless 

proved to have been written by pupils who were at school with Miss 
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Brontë, which has not been done in a single instance. You will observe 

that Mrs Baldwin does not deny that the girls were driven by hunger to 

steal bread. 

Of Rev Carus Wilson I know nothing personally. I would only say 

that I have heard him spoken of by clergymen in terms very different 

from those employed by Mrs Baldwin. 

And now, sir, I have done with this subject. I have discharged a 

painful but necessary duty. Henceforth Charlotte Brontë's assailants may 

growl and snarl over her grave undisturbed by me. 

 

TO THE EDIT OR OF BELGRAVIA  May 1868 

I think that we may refer to the old precedent of the gold and silver 

shield, and say that each writer is right from her own point of view. My 

experience of the Clergy Daughtersô School at Cowan Bridge is two 

years later than that of Jane Eyre, and began in 1827. I have a feeling of 

the strongest respect and gratitude towards my old school, both for the 

principles instilled, and for the thorough conscientious teaching which 

we received in all branches of our education. The food was abundant, 

good, and well-prepared. But there were traditions of things having been 

very differently managed under former superintendence and service; and 

to that time Jane Eyre's experiences, coloured by her vivid imagination, 

may refer. Numerous as we were, a somewhat Spartan discipline was 

perhaps necessary, and a Spartan tone was cultivated by the girls 

themselves. Any tendency to ñsoftness,ò in the north-country 

depreciatory phrase, was avoided by us. Girls would protest that they 

were well, and faint as the words were uttered. To young delicate 

children, peculiarly reared and peculiarly constituted, as ñJaneò and her 

sisters were ð and I may say to any invalids ð the Clergy Daughtersô 

School was scarcely fitted. The general feeling towards Mr Carus 

Wilson was one of the deepest reverence ð I may say, of a more 

unquestioning and implicit reverence than might have been expected in 

so very Protestant a school.  His colossal stature doubtless told in the 

impression he effected amongst us. All justice, by showing the other side 

of the shield, is due to a school which has benefited so many hundreds 

directly, and through them so many more. 
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So there you have it.  You must make up your own minds as to the 

extent that Lowood was really Cowan Bridge School.  Of course in the 

fictional world of Jane Eyre Lowood may have undergone great 

changes, as indeed Cowan Bridge School has changed dramatically.  Oh 

yes, Cowan Bridge School is still teaching girls today, from kindergarten 

to A levels.  Of course it is no longer at Cowan Bridge, and it is now 

called Casterton 

School. 

It takes both day 

pupils and boarders, 

but Iôm sure that each 

girl has her own room 

and the porridge is no 

longer burnt.  If you 

Google ñCasterton 

Schoolò and visit the 

schoolôs website you 

will see that the Cowan 

Bridge Controversy has not hurt their reputation.  The website proudly 

proclaims that Charlotte and Emily Brontë had both been pupils of the 

school. 

 

Jane Eyre as Bildungsroman 
by MICHAEL GIFFIN  

Talk given at the ABA meeting on 6 April 2013 

 

My talk today proposes something that may seem obvious but is actually 

quite subtle.  Thereôs a relationship between the novel that explores the 

heroôs maturity (bildungsroman) and the spirit of her age (zeitgeist). In 

other wordsðin the anglosphere at leastðhow an author defines and 

measures maturity, and the process through which her hero matures, 

changes in three broad stages. 

 

Cowan Bridge School in the time of the Brontës 
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If we describe these stages in terms of literary genres, Stage 1 was 

before the mid-19th century, during the neoclassical and romantic 

periods.  Stage 2 was between the mid-19th and mid-20th century, 

during the realist, naturalist, and modernist periods. Stage 3 emerged in 

the wake of World War II, when the failure of modernism became 

widely evident and both postmodernism and post-postmodernism took 

bildungsroman in different directions. 

 

Today Iôm sticking to Stage 1, which includes both Jane Austen and 

Charlotte Bront±.  By way of fundamental background, Iôll begin with a 

few words about Austen, because as you all know everything begins 

with Austen, and because although Bront± wasnôt fond of Austenðand 

wanted her novels to be different from Austenôsðin some ways theyôre 

similar. For example: Austenôs preference for reason and Bront±ôs 

preference for feeling were opposite sides of the same metaphysical 

coin. 

 

 BILDUNGSROMAN  IN   SENSE AND SENSIBILITY 

For an Austen hero, maturity is a learned response to her society; itôs 

knowing how and when to act appropriately within that society.  Any 

study of how Austen defines and measures maturity needs to begin with 

a historical fact: females were much more vulnerable then than they are 

now.  Social life was governed by property and patronage.  Economic 

life was controlled by a market economy subject to cycles of boom, bust, 

and extended periods of high inflation.  Public health was poor and full 

of inequities; even wealthy females suffered from what we now regard 

as unacceptable levels of preventable disease and premature death. 

There was a high degree of social mobility, upward and downward.  

Every class was restless, insecure, and under threat.  There was no safety 

net as we now know it.  So, because of this individual and collective 

vulnerability, the Austen hero has to discover urgent answers to the 

question: How will I survive? 

 

In Austenôs period, the key to survival was negotiating a successful 

marriage; however, while Austen intends to establish her heroes in 
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successful marriages, none of these eventuate until the end of each 

novel.  They arenôt achieved easily; neither are they achieved by fate, 

accident, or providence.  Theyôre the hard won product of conflict, 

misunderstanding, and growth.  Theyôre forged in difficult social, 

economic, and moral circumstances.  They occur at the end of the heroôs 

journey into maturity, and, the success of that journey depends on how 

the hero exercises her free will and learns from her circumstances and 

also from the consequences of her choices. 

 

For Austen, two competencies are crucial here.  First, the hero needs to 

obtain a correct balance of reason and feeling, according to Platoôs 

model of the mind. Second, the hero needs to acquire correct 

understanding, according to a formula proposed by Locke.  These 

competencies were fundamental to both British Empiricism and 

Georgian Anglicanism. 

 

Regarding the first competency, Plato believes the mind has a tripartite 

structure (rational, spirited, and appetitive) analogous with different 

parts of the body (head, heart, and lower abdomen). These three parts are 

qualitatively different.  We get a sense of this difference in The Republic 

(c.380 BC) where Plato refers to the old quarrel between philosophy and 

poetry; a quarrel that, traditionally understood, is about different truth 

claims.  Because it comes from the rational mind (analogous with the 

head), he believes philosophy has higher truth claims. Because it comes 

from the spirited mind (analogous with the heart), he believes poetry has 

lesser truth claims.  Because itôs analogous with the lower abdomen, and 

isnôt far from the heart, the appetitive mind can easily corrupt the 

spirited mind; however, the rational mind is the least corruptible, 

because itôs furthest away from the lower abdomen.  This binary of 

rationality and irrationality is central to the metaphysical system Austen 

and Brontë share. 

 

Regarding the second competency: In An Essay Concerning Human 

Understanding (1690), Locke proposes the mind is tabula rasa (a blank 

tablet) at birth.  In a typically Enlightenment attempt to reconcile Greek 
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reason with Jewish revelation, he argues reason is natural revelation and 

revelation is natural reason; also, he believes we arrive at reason 

primarily through reflecting on our experience: that is, reason is not 

primarily the development of innate ideas.  This formula for achieving 

correct understanding is fundamental to how Austen defines and 

measures maturity.  The closer we read her novels, the more obvious this 

formula becomes.  The leitmotiv of each novel is how the hero engages 

with the dialectic of reason, revelation, and reflection on her experience, 

in order to arrive at correct understanding and hence to mature. 

 

Like all of Austenôs novels, Sense and Sensibility (1811) is an extended 

parable, which begins with a description of human fallenness and ends 

with a description of human redemption.  This is the metaphysical frame 

in which all Austenôs heroes mature.  Chapter One describes the 

precarious situation of Mrs Dashwood and her daughters; a situation 

caused by the combination of the ineffective stewardship of Mr 

Dashwood, his premature death, primogeniture, and the greed of his son 

and daughter-in-law, Mr and Mrs John Dashwood.  With each sentence 

Austen heightens our awareness of how the commandment to honour thy 

father and mother, and the injunction to care for the widowed and 

orphaned, have been violated. Once that violation is described, and its 

consequences are revealed, Austen presents the different temperaments 

of two sistersðElinorôs sense (reason) and Marianneôs sensibility 

(feeling)ðwhich determine their neoclassical and romantic responses to 

their female vulnerability. 

 

The novel is about how and why Elinorôs rational response to society is 

appropriate, although it is imbalanced and seems preternatural in a 

young woman of nineteen, and about how and why Marianneôs irrational 

response to society is inappropriate, because it makes her vulnerable and 

self-destructive, although it seems more natural in a young woman of 

seventeen.  This does not mean Elinor is without feeling and Marianne 

canôt reason.  Austen maintains an exquisitely symmetrical sense of the 

balance each sister must achieve to be mature, depending on whether 

sheôs destined to be first lady of the parish or first lady of the estate. 
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In Austenôs terms, Elinorôs affinity with reason will make her an ideal 

priestôs wife, once she matures, once her reason is balanced by feeling.  

In Austenôs terms, Marianneôs affinity with feeling will make her an 

ideal squireôs wife, once she matures; once her feeling is balanced by 

reason.  Once the reader notices this dynamic, Austenôs nexus between 

parish and estate becomes obvious and her concern to establish 

successful marriages in each domain is easier to understand.  After her 

trials, Elinor is rewarded with a successful marriage to a priest, Edward 

Ferrars, in which feeling provides a corrective balance to her reason.  

After her trials, Marianne is rewarded with a successful marriage to a 

squire, Colonel Brandon, in which reason provides a corrective balance 

to her feeling. 

 

Why are these marriages significant to Austen? Because, in the 

unregulated agrarian capitalism of her period, clergy couples and gentry 

couples were the two predominant and influential social units that could 

affect an entire community, for better or for worse, in an age of 

enormous social, economic, and moral upheaval.  Apart from Anne 

Elliot, whom Austen is grooming to become mistress of a home with no 

traditional boundaries, her ideal clerical marriages represent reason 

tempered by feeling, and her ideal gentry marriages represent feeling 

tempered by reason. 

 BILDUNGSROMAN IN  JANE EYRE 

Although both Austen and Brontë were clergy daughters, and although 

both of them took their Anglican faith seriously, they were influenced by 

different zeitgeists.  By Bront±ôs period, neoclassicism was over; 

romanticism was at its peak; capitalism was becoming less agrarian and 

more industrial; society, the economy, and class dynamics were 

changing.  This may partly explain why Brontë regarded Austen as 

ñshrewd and observantò and confessed she ñshould hardly likeò to live 

with Austenôs ladies and gentlemen ñin their elegant but confined 

housesò. 
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Apart from their different zeitgeists, however, there is little philosophical 

difference between Bront±ôs focus on feeling and Austenôs focus on 

reason. Both authors wrote within the same metaphysical paradigm; both 

depended on Platoôs tripartite structure of the mind for their narrative 

logic. In fact, the more Sense and Sensibility and Jane Eyre (1847) are 

compared, the more philosophically similar they both appear, and the 

more exquisitely symmetrical they both seem.  Each novel argues that 

the rational mind (head) must prevent the spirited mind (heart) from 

becoming corrupted by the appetitive mind (lower abdomen), since the 

spirited mind is forever at risk. 

 

Austen makes it clear Marianne has to learn her lesson the hard way, 

because she has the potential to become another Bertha Masonðthe 

madwoman upstairsðif her spirited mind is corrupted by her appetitive 

mind. Brontë makes Jane a more resilient amalgam of Elinor and 

Marianne. She learns her lesson about the dangers of her appetitive mind 

early, at Gateshead Hall and Lowood School.  The rest of the novel is 

about her struggle for happiness, which depends on maintaining a 

particular mental balance. 

 

The madwoman upstairs is an object lesson in romantic excess.  Bertha 

has an unstable mind and a passionate nature, both of which contributed 

to her madness, but the novel also suggests she has tertiary syphilis, a 

madness-inducing disease, associated with romantic excess, for which 

there was no cure in those days.  As Austen and Brontë both understand 

the consequences of syphilis, and know that many if not most families 

had a syphilitic relative somewhere in the past or the present, Platoôs 

tripartite structure of the mind is for them the equivalent of a public 

health message before the germ theory of disease and the discovery of 

antibiotics.  However, Austen and Bront± believe thereôs more to life 

than protection from the mental imbalance that triggers moral danger, 

disease, and madness.  They want their heroes to thrive not merely to 

survive; they want their heroes to be physically and metaphysically 

fulfilled.  Thatôs why itôs so important for their heroes to negotiate 

successful marriages, have enough money to live on, and remain as 
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healthy as possible.  All this depended on the right balance of reason and 

feeling; a balance thatôs slightly different for each author. 

 

For Austen, maturity depends on Lockeôs formula for correct 

understanding.  If she wasnôt conscious of Locke, he was still 

fundamental to her zeitgeist. For Brontë, maturity depends on a different 

formula.  In The Phenomenology of Mind (1807), Hegel proposes that 

absolute knowledge, and hence maturity, canôt come about until oneôs 

consciousness becomes self-conscious and recognises the self-

consciousness of another.  To illustrate this proposition, he tells the story 

of a masterïservant dialectic, which can be about an individualôs 

struggle for freedom as she tries to realise herself, or a societyôs struggle 

for freedom as it tries to realise itself.  If Bront± wasnôt conscious of 

Hegel, he was still fundamental to her zeitgeist and itôs difficult if not 

impossible to discuss Jane Eyre as bildungsroman and ignore how the 

heroôs maturity depends on the way she internalises Hegelôs enormously 

influential dialectic. 

 

In one interpretation of the dialectic, when one I encounters another I, its 

pre-eminence is compromised and it experiences the other I as a threat.  

Its only means of reasserting itself is through a struggle for pre-

eminence; hence the two relate as master and servant.  However, unless 

their authority and accountability are equal and reciprocal, no shared 

identities such as being committed, being responsible, or having social 

status are possible.  

 

Brontë explores this Hegelian dialectic with great consistency in Jane 

Eyre, and her exploration occurs within Platoôs tripartite structure of the 

mind.  At Gateshead Hall, the young Jane experiences the consequences 

of her appetitive mind.  At Lowood School, she learns to control her 

appetitive mind and benefits from her education there.  She becomes a 

young teacher who prays to God for liberty, change, and stimulus, but 

when her prayers are not answered she cries out desperately: ñThen, 

grant me at least a new servitude!ò  This appeal to the masterïservant 

dialectic frames the rest of the novel, as Jane explores the consequences 
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of needing a master while having fixed ideas about the master she needs: 

a master who embodies the right balance of reason and feeling. 

 

At Thornfield Hall, she resists giving herself to a contemporary version 

of a medieval knight, the romantic hero with a flaw, Edward Rochester, 

whose spirited mind has been compromised by his appetitive mind.  At 

Moor House, she resists giving herself to a contemporary version of a 

medieval priest, St John Rivers, whose rational mind isnôt balanced by 

his spirited mind.  Each wants Jane as a wife.  Each wants her to be a 

different kind of servant within the dialectic.  In both cases, she almost 

succumbs to their benevolent attempts to dominate her.  However, the 

romantic Jane is more modern than medieval; she knows that, unless 

husband and wife share equal and reciprocal authority and 

accountability, they canôt have the identities or status Bront± wants for 

them. 

 

The novel opens with the young Jane at Gateshead Hall; an orphan 

living in a disordered estate without a master to prevent it from 

squandering its inheritance and sliding into ruin.  Her late uncle, Mr 

Reed, was a kind man and had he lived he might have made her the 

focus of renewal at Gateshead.  Without him, she has no champion, no 

protector, no master to serve.  Without him, she sees herself as ña 

discord in Gatesheadò.  She has ñnothing in harmonyò with its 

inhabitants. 

 

Janeôs widowed aunt, Mrs Reed, and her three cousins ð John, 

Georgiana, and Eliza ð treat her badly.  She tolerates this treatment, up 

to a point, but eventually rebels; because she has a passionate nature; 

because she doesnôt regard herself as their ñslaveò.  As punishment for 

this rebellion, and for her inability to control her appetitive mind, sheôs 

locked away in the ñred-roomò, her uncleôs bedchamber, the room in 

which he died, where she experiences an existential terror and loses 

consciousness.  (Note: The memory of this terror returns to her many 

years later, once she realises she is at mental and moral risk from 

Rochesterôs appetitive mind.) 
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Because aunt and cousins treat her badly, sheôs pleased to hear sheôs 

being sent away to school.  Knowing sheôs leaving Gateshead, she vents 

her grievances and gives her aunt a piece of her appetitive mind.  While 

this ventilation gives Jane a sense of victory, itôs pyrrhic; it makes her 

feel as if sheôs been poisoned, which in a sense she has.  This feeling of 

having been poisoned is the first of many lessons through which she 

learns about the light and dark aspects of her own character, according to 

the Platonic logic that her feelings need to be released rationally if they 

are to be constructive rather than destructive.  The ultimate measure of 

her maturity is recognising her need of forgiveness and her need to 

forgive others.  This recognition occurs at the centre of the novel, during 

one of its shapely turnsðor, if you like, its climaxðwhen she returns to 

Gateshead from Thornfield as a young woman, in the bloom of love, to 

forgive her dying aunt for treating her badly as a child. 

 

If Gateshead Hall represents the disordered estate, Lowood School 

introduces the disordered church.  This is where Janeôs journey into 

maturity begins; a maturity that depends on a right balance of reason and 

feeling; a maturity that allows her to recognise whatôs wrong with the 

church as well as the estate.  Under Brocklehurstôs influence, Lowood is 

a terrible place, both physically and metaphysically; its eighty pupils are 

weakened by freezing rooms, thin clothing, and inadequate food; many 

of them die during an epidemic of typhoid fever.  During that epidemic, 

Helen dies of consumption, not typhoid fever, and a sleeping Jane is 

embracing her when she dies. 

 

Why does Helen die while Jane survives? Because, in Bront±ôs 

metaphorical scheme, Helenôs faith is self-abnegating and weakens her 

while Janeôs faith is self-affirming and strengthens her.  When 

Brocklehurstôs hypocrisy and neglect are discovered, heôs sidelined by 

Lowoodôs benefactors, who improve conditions and build new school 

accommodation.  Jane eventually benefits from the education Lowood 

gives her and becomes a teacher.  She survives as a servant within its 

symbolic order but Brontë wants her to thrive not just survive.  To thrive 



 

 

28 

 

as a servant, physically and metaphysically, she needs a new symbolic 

order and a new master. 

 

What kind of symbolic order?  What kind of master?  There are two 

orders for Jane to test her servitude within, the secular Thornfield Hall 

and the religious Moor House; each is temperamentally distinct and 

depends on Platoôs tripartite structure of the mind.  Rochesterôs order 

represents feeling needing to be balanced by reason; Riversô order 

represents reason needing to be balanced by feeling. Notice the 

similarities here, between the neoclassical Sense and Sensibility and the 

romantic Jane Eyre, but notice the differences too. 

 

Thornfield Hall is gothic not neo-gothic.  It was probably built during 

the high or late medieval period, which links it to those myths of 

chivalry that, as far as women are concerned, are attractive on some 

levels but unattractive on others.  Thereôs a body of 20th century 

research that describes how the role of women changed during this 

period; how the myths of chivalry affected them.  Before the chivalry 

period, women were more independent: for example, in some 

jurisdictions they could operate businesses independently and their 

husbands werenôt responsible for their corporate liability.  During the 

chivalry period, women became more dependent. While we canôt 

assume Brontë was aware of this tendency, she was aware of the 

negative aspects of romanticism while being romantic herself.  Thatôs 

why she made Thornfield a gothic and romantic metaphor and Rochester 

a gothic and romantic master. 

 

Brontë gave Rochester most of the stock characteristics of a romantic 

hero: heôs a leader; heôs restless, powerful, introspective, alienated, 

isolated, filled with melancholy and wanderlust, and associated with 

nature; also, he has a fatal flaw.  She even gets Jane to question him 

about the two romantic characteristics she hasnôt given him; self-

criticism and regret for his actions; two characteristics which often lead 

other romantic heroes towards philanthropy as a way of atoning for their 

fatal flaw.  And at one point Jane even asks Rochester if heôs 
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philanthropic!  As he says no, we know heôs consciously avoiding 

anything that might atone for his fatal flaw.  He believes remorse is ñthe 

poison of lifeò.  He doesnôt believe, as Jane does, that religious 

repentance is the cure for remorse.  He believes secular reformation 

might be; however, while he has the strength to reform, if he wants to, 

he doesnôt want to. 

 

Apart from these romantic characteristics, Rochester has a conscience; 

also, his spirited mind is noble; like Jane, and like Marianne, his spirited 

mind is in touch with truths the rational mind isnôt; however, his 

conscience and nobility are always threatened by his appetitive mind.  

So within the gothic metaphor of Thornfield, heôs master of a disordered 

estate, some of which he inherited, some of which he made himself.  He 

knows Thornfield is disordered.  He wrestles with the disorder he 

inherited from his father and older brother, who treated him badly, who 

conspired to arrange his marriage to Bertha.  He wrestles with the 

disorder he created, as a result of being a flawed hero whose appetitive 

mind always undermines his spirited mind.  Whatôs the cure?  As he 

doesnôt believe in repentance, and isnôt willing to reform, he keeps on 

brooding while searching for a cure that suits him. 

 

As Jane Eyre is a novel, Rochesterôs search is rhetorical, like Janeôs 

search, and thereôs a resonance about George Eliotôs comment on 

Bront±: ñI wish her characters would talk a little less like the heroes and 

heroes of police reportsò.  We see this rhetorical tendency throughout 

the novel, as the protagonists interrogate each other in ways that act out 

Platoôs tripartite structure of the mind and the Hegelian dialectic.  

During the Thornfield section, Rochester and Jane conduct an 

interrogation that gradually moves from exploration to flirtation to 

romance.  Heôs not handsome, and sheôs not beautiful, but theyôre 

attracted to each other on many physical and metaphysical levels. He 

tests her; she tests him.  He wants to be her master; she wants to be his 

servant.  He wants her heart to become less guarded; she wants his heart 

to become more guarded.  Who wins this struggle? 
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Rochester takes the view that, since heôs a man of conscience, and since 

happiness has been irrevocably denied him, he can use his will to obtain 

pleasure, by any means, at any cost.  Notice the parallel here with 

Marianneôs belief in hedonism, the doctrine that moral value, and the 

distinction between right and wrong, can be defined and measured by a 

pleasure principle.  Jane takes the view that, since hedonism isnôt a good 

guardian of conscience, this path only leads to further degeneration.  

True to her belief in repentance, she returns to Gateshead to forgive her 

Aunt Reed on her deathbed.  On her return to Thornfield, Rochester 

continues with his plans to seduce Jane into his dark domain.  The 

temptation nearly succeeds; however, at the last moment, at the altar, as 

they are about to exchange marriage vows, an impediment is declared: 

Jane learns that Bertha is Rochesterôs wife. 

 

What should Jane do? She must flee temptation.  Rochester isnôt going 

to change; his appetitive mind is making his spirited mind increasingly 

desperate.  She no longer has the strength to remain near him free of 

moral danger.  He canôt be her master; she canôt be his servant.  So she 

leaves Thornfield in the dead of night taking nothing with her.  As Jane 

Eyre is a religious allegory, she travels through Whitcross, which 

literally means the Spirit of the Cross.  This course of action is 

fundamental to the development of Bront±ôs religious moral.  The point 

here is: Readers who believe Jane should run away with Rochester, who 

believe they can spend the rest of their lives as happy exiles, are 

fundamentally misguided.  This may be what Rochester wants but it 

isnôt an option for Jane. 

 

After four days of existential crisis, during which Jane experiences 

exposure, poverty, and hunger, she collapses on the doorstep of Moor 

House, the family home of a brother and two sisters who have recently 

returned there following the death of their father.  St John is a young 

single priest; Diana and Mary are young single governesses.  They take 

Jane in.  They save her life.  After a while, she discovers theyôre cousins 

of hers.  She discovers they share a recently deceased uncle, a merchant 

in Madeira, who had been trying to locate her so he could make her his 
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heir.  He even once wrote to her aunt, asking for information about how 

to contact her, but Mrs Reed told him Jane died during Lowoodôs 

typhoid epidemic. 

 

So Jane now has the family sheôs always wanted, and a fortune of 

twenty thousand pounds, which was a lot of money in those days.  What 

does she do with it?  She gives five thousand to each cousin and keeps 

five thousand for herself, as thatôs more than she can ever imagine 

needing.  St John can rethink his plans to become a missionary in India, 

if he wishes.  Diana and Mary no longer need to earn their living as 

governesses.  Each has a competency.  Each is independent.  None is 

rich.  All are comfortable.  They are now bourgeois and free from the 

stain of the decaying upper class, whether at Gateshead or Thornfield.  

Jane is happier and more in control of her destiny than she has ever been 

before.  Thereôs no need for her to beg God for a new servitude, as she 

did at the end of her years at Lowood. 

 

Jane no longer needs to think about finding a new master.  She can be 

her own master.  She can reframe her life apart from the Hegelian 

dialectic, if she wants to, but she doesnôt want to.  Why?  Because, as far 

as Brontë is concerned, that would undermine Jane Eyre as 

bildungsroman and the symmetry of Janeôs story would be incomplete.  

It was once fashionable among secular critics to stress the novelôs fairy 

tale aspects and noticeðas if it was a violation of some realist, 

naturalist, or modernist sensibilityðhow Brontë invokes providence as 

an informing principle; however, Bront± knows maturity doesnôt come 

with providential fairy tales; if it did, each generation of literary author 

would not be defining and measuring it differently.  As a practicing and 

committed Anglican, Brontë understands the price of maturity; while she 

knows that nature needs to be perfected by grace, she understands the 

theological distinction between cheap grace and costly grace.  Janeôs 

maturity would be meaningless if it came with her inheritance, which is 

why Brontë extends the Hegelian dialectic to St John as a contemporary 

version of a medieval priest, who is antithetical to Rochester as a 

contemporary version of a medieval knight. 
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The 21st century reader needs to ask an obvious question here.  Once 

Bront±ôs Platonic logic is understood, Rochesterôs character is easy to 

grasp, since it falls within the conventions of a romantic hero, and 

thereôs an obvious logic about his spirited mind being compromised by 

his appetitive mind.  However, as religion is now widely regarded as 

non-rational if not irrational, why does Brontë make St John a symbol of 

extreme rationality?  As he represents religion in the novel, isnôt this 

contradictory?  No, it isnôt, if we remember the temperamental 

distinction Austen and Brontë make for the secular stateïestate sphere 

and the religious churchïparish sphere; for both authors, the former 

exists under the sign of feeling and the latter exists under the sign of 

reason.  The idea that religion is non-rational if not irrational is relatively 

new. 

 

The relationship St John develops with Jane at Moor House is 

antithetical to the relationship she develops with Rochester at Thornfield 

Hall. In both relationships, the question-and-answer police report 

dialogue, which Eliot objects to, emphasises Bront±ôs development of 

the Hegelian dialectic.  St John is a noble character, like Rochester, but 

heôs also the wrong kind of master for Jane.  He needs a wife to serve 

him and to serve the Lord with him.  The more he learns about Jane, the 

more suitable she seems as his servant and the Lordôs servant. Jane has 

no qualms about this form of religious servitude; however, sheôs only 

willing to go to India as St Johnôs missionary sister not as his missionary 

wife.  Why?  Because she needs romantic love; the kind of love she felt 

with Rochester; the kind of love St John is incapable of. 

 

Before Jane says no to St Johnôs last proposal, she visits Thornfield to 

see how Rochester is faring. On arriving at Thornfield, she discovers the 

Hall destroyed by fire; she learns that Bertha has died and Rochester was 

blinded and maimed trying to save her.  Thereôs a scriptural allusion 

here; the requirements of Matthew 5:27ï31 have been fulfilled; the 

impediments of adultery and divorce have been removed.  Most 

importantly, Rochesterôs fatal flaw as a romantic hero has been cured, 
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according to the only cure Brontë believed possible, extreme as it seems 

to us. 

 

Rochester is living not far away, in another property of his, Ferndean 

Manor, a humble and more natural environment than Thornfield. Brontë 

reconciles the Hegelian dialectic here, at Ferndean, where Jane can 

finally be the ñservantò of her ideal  ñmasterò, on an equal footing, now 

that his physical disadvantage gives her a metaphysical advantage. In 

one sense they can now journey together as equals; in another sense she 

can now lead him into the way of truth instead of being dragged by him 

into a degenerate realm of romantic excess.  Of course, such a contrived 

ending would not ring true if the novel sought to imitate life, but in a 

religious allegory, where bildungsroman represents the zeitgeist, the 

ending is consistent with the moral.  In highlighting this moral, Brontë 

wants us to remember that Jane is no less a Christian for refusing to take 

up the same cross St John did in India.  Her world is full of other crosses 

that will do instead. 

 

Jane will always regard St John as an ideal, even if that ideal isnôt the 

focus of her chosen vocation, and sheôll shed sincere tears on hearing of 

his death in the mission field.  Given Bront±ôs religious sympathies, itôs 

fitting her novel should end with the mantra ñCome, Lordò (Maranatha). 

Here the religious reader will recognise that Jane Eyre can also be read 

as an exploration of Christian orthodoxy.  If St John favours the 

atonement over the incarnation, Janeôs incarnational vocation is just as 

authentic, and just as centred upon Christ, as the vocation of any other 

committed Christian. 
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Frost in her Heart: Charlotte 

Brontë, Villette & Melancholia 
by A/Prof Anne Collett, English Literatures Program, University of 

Wollongong 

Talk given at the ABA meeting on 1 June 2013 

[Fig.1 Melancholy by Constance Marie Charpentier, 1801] 

 

Having refused to participate in the kind of literary tourism that 

venerates the person and place of the author at the expense of a reading 

of the authorôs work that positions Imagination as paramount, I recently 

capitulated with a visit to the Brontë parsonage at Haworth. The visit 

changed my mind about the value of literary tourism as it alerted me to 

two aspects of the Bront±sô lives that had significant impact on their 

literary works but to which I had not attached sufficient importance: the 

first is related to the dwelling itself and the degree to which it attests to 
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middle-class nature of the Bront±sô world (about which I will not speak 

today), and the second is related to the grounds of that dwelling, grounds 

dominated by a graveyard ï I wondered what it would be like to wake 

up every morning and go to bed every evening in such close proximity 

to the dead. 

[Fig.2 Haworth Parsonage in Autumn] 

 

I wondered about the impact of living in a graveyard, and having also 

recently been struck by the at times almost suffocating darkness at the 

heart of Villette (published in 1853), I began to think about the impact of 

death, isolation and depression in Charlotteôs life. What relationship 

might be drawn between her state of mind when writing Villette, the life 

experience she draw upon, and possibly the lessons learnt, that inform 

the novel. I do not want to suggest that Lucy Snowe, the protagonist of 

Villette, stands in for Charlotte, but I do what to think about relationship 

between author and character, in particular the melancholy that besets, 

and to an extent, disables, both. Using Charlotteôs letters, and with 



 

 

36 

 

knowledge of the history of social and medical understanding of 

melancholia, we can perhaps better appreciate what Charlotte suffered, 

how she felt and thought about that suffering, and how this in turn 

impacted upon her characterisation of Lucy and the authorial narration 

of Villette. So to set the scene, and mood, I will begin by reading a 

lengthy passage from the novel: 

 

Those who live in retirement, whose lives have fallen amid the 

seclusion of schools or of other walled-in and guarded dwellings, 

are liable to be suddenly and for a long while dropped out of the 

memory of their friends, the denizens of a freer world. 

Unaccountably, perhaps, and close upon some space of unusually 

frequent intercourse ï some congeries of rather exciting little 

circumstances, whose natural sequel would rather seem to be the 

quickening than the suspension of communication ï there falls a 

stilly pause, a wordless silence, a long blank of oblivion. Unbroken 

always is this blank; alike entire and unexplained. The letter, the 

message once frequent, are cut off; the visit, formerly periodical, 

ceases to occur; the book, paper, or other token that indicated 

remembrance, comes no more.  

 Always there are excellent reasons for these lapses, if the hermit 

but knew them. Though he is stagnant in his cell, his connections 

without are whirling in the very vortex of life. That void interval 

which passes for him so slowly that the very clocks seem at a stand, 

and the wingless hours plod by in the likeness of tired tramps prone 

to rest at milestones ï that same interval, perhaps, teems with 

events, and pants with hurry for his friends. 

 The hermit ï if he be a sensible hermit ï will swallow his own 

thoughts, and lock up his own emotions during these weeks of 

inward winter. He will know that Destiny designed him to imitate, 

on occasion, the dormouse, and he will be comfortable: make a tidy 

ball of himself, creep into a hole of lifeôs wall, and submit decently 

to the drift which blows in and soon blocks him up, preserving him 

in ice for the season. 
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 Let him say, ñIt is quite right: it ought to be so, since so it is.ò And, 

perhaps, one day his snow-sepulchre will open, springôs softness 

will return, the sun and south-wind will reach him; the budding of 

hedges, and carolling of birds and singing of liberated streams will 

call him to kindly resurrection. Perhaps this may be the case, 

perhaps not: the frost may get into his heart and never thaw more; 

when spring comes, a crow or a pie may pick out of the wall only 

his dormouse-bones. (Brontë, Villette, 348) 

 

ñThe frost may get into his heart and never thaw moreò é These dark 

words, óspokenô by Lucy Snowe, are taken from the opening of Chapter 

24 of the novel. At this point in the novel, Lucyôs isolation as an English 

teacher in a school for girls in the French-speaking town of Villette has 

been alleviated by a reunion with her godmotherôs family. Subsequent to 

a night out at a theatre with her godmotherôs son, Graham Bretton (or 

Dr. John as he is known at the school), Lucy has waited seven weeks to 

receive a letter, or indeed any form of communication, from this man 

with whom she has formed an emotional attachment. ñFollowing the 

eventful evening at the theatre,ò she writes, ñcame for me seven weeks 

as bare as seven sheets of blank paper: no word was written on one of 

them; not a visit, not a token.ò (349) Lucy details the different 

expedients she employs to ñfill existenceò: ñI commenced an elaborate 

piece of lace-work, I studied German pretty hard, I undertook a course 

of regular reading of the driest and thickest books in the libraryò (349), 

but for all her efforts, ñthe result was as if I had gnawed a file to satisfy 

hunger, or drank brine to quench thirst.ò (350). She speaks of seven 

weeks of ñbitter fears and pains, strange inward trials, miserable 

defections of hope, intolerable encroachments of despairò é whose 

breath ñwent right through me. I used to feel it, like a baleful air or sigh, 

penetrate deep, and make motion pause at my heart, or proceed only 

under unspeakable oppressionò (350. The hoped for letter from Graham, 

which Lucy describes as ñall of sweetness in life I had to look forò, does 

not come.  
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[Fig.3 Pensionnat H®ger, Rue dôIsablle] 

 

We know that both Villette and The Professor draw in large part upon 

the time Charlotte spent in Brussels, initially with Emily, and then for a 

year by herself. The sisters travelled to Brussels with their father by 

packet and stage coach in February 1842. They enrolled in the boarding 

school run by Monsieur Héger and his wife, with the aim of improving 

their language skills and later, to glean how they might set up a school 

themselves in England. Charlotte taught English and Emily, music, their 

teaching being payment in kind for board and tuition. In October of that 

year their Aunt Elizabeth died, forcing their return to Haworth. Charlotte 

returned alone to Brussels in January 1843 to take up a teaching post at 

the Pensionnat; but it was during this year that Charlotte became 

homesick and lonely. Elizabeth Gaskell writes of Charlotteôs 

ñdepression of spiritsò during the second half of her stay in Brussels: 

ñMere bodily pain, however acute, she could always put aside; but too 

often ill-health assailed her in a part far more to be dreaded. Her 

depression of spirits, when she was not well, was pitiful in its extremity. 

She was aware that it was constitutional, and could reason about it; but 

no reasoning prevented her suffering mental agony, while the bodily 
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cause remained in force.ò (Life of Charlotte Brontë, 186) During this 

year Charlotte writes to Emily of feeling in ñlow spiritsò, and that she 

was ñnot ill in body. It is only the mind which is a trifle shaken ï for 

want of comfort.ò (Dec.19,1843. Letter 129, Clement). It was also 

during this year that Charlotte developed an emotional attachment to 

Constantin Héger. The depth of that attachment was not known for some 

time (being concealed by Elizabeth Gaskell), but the letters Charlotte 

wrote to Héger after leaving Brussels in 1844 were given to the British 

Museum in 1913, and printed in The Times in July of that year. In the 

first letter Charlotte writes,  

 

I may, then, write to you, without breaking my promise. The summer 

and winter have seemed very long to me; in truth, it has cost me 

painful efforts to endure up to now the privation I have imposed upon 

myself. You, for your part, cannot understand this! But, Monsieur, try 

to imagine, for one moment, that one of your children is a hundred and 

sixty leagues away from you; and that you are condemned to remain 

for six months, without writing to him; without receiving any news 

from him; without hearing anything about him; without knowing how 

he is; well, then you may be able to understand, perhaps, how hard is 

such an obligation imposed upon me.  

 

After waiting some time for a reply, Charlotte in some anguish, wrote a 

second letter in which she tried to remedy what she conjectured might 

have caused offence in the first communication: ñAh, Monsieur! I know 

I once wrote you a letter that was not a reasonable one, because my heart 

was choked with grief; but I will not do it again! I will try not to be 

selfish; although I cannot but feel your letters the greatest happiness I 

know. I will wait patiently to receive one, until it pleases you, and it is 

convenient to write one. At the same time, I may write you a little letter 

from time to time; you authorized me to do that.ò  

Again she received no reply, but upon meeting ña gentleman amongst 

my friendsò who ñwas passing through Bruxellesò she asks that he 

deliver her letter into Monsieur H®gerôs hands ï ñso that I shall be quite 
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certain that you receive it.ò (October 24, 1844) After another two 

months of silence she writes a final letter, 

 

I submit to all the reproaches you may make against me; if my master 

withdraws his friendship from me entirely, I shall remain without 

hope; if he keeps a little for me (never mind though it be very little) I 

shall have some motive for living, for working. 

Monsieur, the poor do not need much to keep them alive; they ask 

only for the crumbs that fall from the rich manôs table, but if these 

crumbs are refused them, then they die of hunger! For me too, I make 

no claim either to great affection from those I love; I should hardly 

know how to understand an exclusive and perfect friendship, I have so 

little experience of it! But once upon a time, at Bruxelles, when I was 

your pupil, you did show me a little interest: and just this small 

amount of interest you gave me then, I hold to and I care for and prize, 

as I hold to and care for life itself . . .  

 

It would seem that, on reflection some years later, Charlotte felt 

embarrassment that she had responded to H®gerôs refusal, indeed, denial 

of relationship, in so ñunshieldedò a manner; thus Lucy refrains from 

calling attention to her feelings. A younger Charlotte however brings 

what will be her final letter to Héger to a close with these words: 

 

I know, by some secret instinct, that certain absolutely reasonable and 

cool-headed people reading it [this letter] through will say: ñShe 

appears to have gone mad.ò By way of revenge on such judges, all I 

would wish them is that they too might endure, for one day only, the 

sufferings I have borne for eight months - then, one would see, if they 

too did not ñappear to have gone mad.ò One endures in silence whilst 

one has the strength to do it. But when this strength fails one, one 

speaks without weighing oneôs words. I wish Monsieur all happiness 

and prosperity. (January 8, 1845) 

 

It would appear that Charlotte received no communication from Héger. 

For Lucy however, a letter does arrive after seven weeks [not eight 
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months mind you] of ñinward winterò. But it is a missive from her 

godmother, not Graham. Nevertheless, Lucy observes that ña letter like 

that sets one to rights! I might still be sad after reading that letter, but I 

was more composed; not exactly cheered, perhaps, but relieved. My 

friends, at least, were well and happy: no accident had occurred to 

Graham; no illness had seized his mother ï calamities that had so long 

been my dream and thoughtò (356). This relief however is coupled with 

another, just as strongly felt: ñhow very wise it is in people placed in an 

exceptional position to hold their tongues and not rashly declare how 

such position galls them!ò (356).  

Lucy has no family or friends to whom she can speak of her loneliness 

and tendency to melancholia, but Charlotte could speak openly of her 

distress to her trusted friend, Ellen Nussey, of a failing in health and 

spirits. In 1838 she writes, ñA calm and even mind like yours, Ellen, 

cannot conceive the feelings of the shattered wretch who is now writing 

to you, when, after weeks of mental and bodily anguish not to be 

described, something like tranquillity and ease began to dawn again.ò 

(June 7, 1838. Letter 46, Shorter); and of a ñheaviness of spiritò which 

has made her ñfaculties dull, made rest weariness, and occupation 

burdensome.ò She speaks of ñthe silence of the houseò and  ñthe solitude 

of [her] roomò pressing on her ñlike a weightò that she finds difficult to 

bearò and notes that she has ñere this been warned of approaching 

disturbance in the atmosphere by a sense of bodily weakness, and deep, 

heavy, mental sadness, such as some would call presentiment.ò (Feb 16, 

1850. Letter 418, Shorter) In December of 1850 Charlotte writes (again 

to Ellen) about ña prolonged bout of depressionò that ñhas for nearly 

three months been sinking me to the earth.ò:  ñI shall never forget last 

Autumn. Some days and nights have been cruel.ò (Letter 483, Shorter)  

Lucyôs palpable sense of relief that she refrained from voicing her 

disappointment or frustration in regard to the non-receipt of the hoped-

for letter, is followed by a perceptive and sad observation on the degree 

to which depression, or indeed, any mental or spiritual deprivation and 

subsequent instability or óailingô, is uncomprehended, and for which no 

compassion or aid is available. Charlotte, through her ócipherô, Lucy, 

writes:  
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The world can understand well enough the process of perishing for 

want of food: perhaps few persons can enter into or follow out that of 

going mad from solitary confinement. They see the long-buried 

prisoner disinterred, a maniac or an idiot! ï how his senses left him ï 

how his nerves, first inflamed, underwent nameless agony, and then 

sunk to palsy ï is a subject too intricate for examination, too abstract 

for popular comprehension. Speak of it! You might almost as well 

stand up in an European market-place, and propound dark sayings in 

that language and mood wherein Nebuchadnezzar, the imperial 

hypochondria, communed with his baffled Chaldeans. And long, long 

may the minds to whom such themes are no mystery ï by whom their 

bearings are sympathetically seized ï be few in number, and rare of 

encounter. Long may it be generally thought that physical privations 

alone merit compassion, and that the rest is a figment. (356) 

[Fig.4 Nebuchadnezzar by William Blake, 1795] 
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This is not the first instance of depression that Lucy has suffered. In fact, 

the first prolonged episode, a shocking encounter for not only Lucy, but 

the reader, occurs during the long summer vacation which Lucy spends 

virtually alone at the deserted school. The palpable anguish of this 

episode stayed with me long after my first encounter with Villette; and it 

was clear to me on subsequent reading, that Lucy suffers in fact the 

classic symptoms of depression, called as such by Charlotte in her 

description of Lucyôs agonized state, but elsewhere termed melancholy, 

and the effect of which is named ñhypochondriaò by Dr. John (see 

p.256-7)   

This state is described by Charlotte (albeit through Lucyôs voice) in 

Chapter 15, The Long Vacation:  

 

ñHow vast and void seemed the desolate premises! How gloomy the 

forsaken garden ï gray now with the dust of a town-summer departed. 

Looking forward at the commencement of those eight weeks, I hardly 

knew how I was to live to the end. My spirits had long been gradually 

sinking; now that the prop of employment was withdrawn, they went 

down fast. Even to look forward was not to hope: the dumb future spoke 

no comfort, offered no promise, gave no inducement to bear present evil 

in reliance on future good. A sorrowful indifference to existence often 

pressed on me ï a despairing resignation to reach betimes the end of all 

things earthly.ò (228) Lucy is suicidal ï ñcrushedò by what she describes 

as a deadly paralysis (229), a mental pain that was ñwasting and 

wearingò (229) and persistent insomnia that lasts for nine days: ñAt last 

a day and night of peculiarly agonizing depression were succeeded by 

physical illness, I took perforce to my bed. About this time the Indian 

summer closed and the equinoctial storms began; and for nine dark and 

wet days, of which the Hours rushed on all turbulent, deaf, dishevelled ï 

bewildered with sound hurricane ï I lay in a strange fever of the nerves 

and blood. Sleep went quite away. I used to rise in the night, look round 

for her, beseech her earnestly to return. A rattle of the window, a cry of 

the blast only replied ï Sleep never came!ò (231)  

If we turn to Charlotte for similar symptoms of debilitating 

depression, we have only to read her letters of 1851 and ó52 . 
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Throughout 1851 she is often disturbed by what can only be understood 

as depression ï speaking of ñan inexpressibly flat stateò and of parts of 

many a night spent ñin extreme sadnessò (June 11, 1851, qtd Todd, 211) 

In September Charlotte mentions ña night of peculiar vigil and fearò and 

in November she writes to Mrs Gaskell of attacks of depression that 

occur throughout the Autumnal or Vernal equinox ï ña period of the 

year which, I have noticed, strangely tries. Sometimes the strain falls on 

the mental, sometimes on the physical part of me; I am ill with neuralgic 

headache, or I am ground to the dust with deep dejection of spirits.ò 

(Nov 6, 1851. Letter 540, Shorter) By December of 1851 Charlotte is 

writing to Ellen that she has been confined to bed, being terribly weak, 

having no appetite for 3 weeks, and sleep badly. She explains that she is 

ñwell aware ... that extreme and continuous depression of spirits has had 

much to do with the origin of the illnessò (qtd Todd, 212). Throughout 

the winter of 1851 and spring of 1852 and again in the autumn of that 

year Charlotte suffers bouts of debilitating depression. To her friend 

Laetitia Wheelwright she writes of: ñlong, stormy days and nights ... 

when I felt such a craving for support and companionship as I cannot 

express. Sleepless, I lay awake night after night, weak and unable to 

occupy myself, I sat in my chair day after day, the saddest memories my 

only company.ò (April 12, 1852, qtd Gaskell, II, x, 382).  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Fig.5 melancholy angel] 
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At this point I would take you back to Lucy who has suffered nine 

nights of sleeplessness; finally falling asleep only to be visited by a most 

appalling nightmare. The following morning, believing no doctor can 

offer her cure, she leaves the house in the twilight of an evening she 

feels is sympathetic to her suffering. Heading out of town, Lucy is 

arrested by the sound of bells and is called within, only to discover it is a 

Catholic church and confession is being taken. When asked by the priest 

why, being a Protestant, she has come, Lucy replies: ñI was perishing for 

a word of advice or an accent of comfort. I had been living for some 

weeks quite alone; I had been ill; I had a pressure of affliction on my 

mind of which it would hardly any longer endure the weight.ò (233) 

Ultimately the priest does not know how to respond to Lucyôs case, in 

part because she is a Protestant, and she leaves the church, having at 

least the benefit of talking to someone: ñthe mere relief of 

communication in an ear which was human and sentient, yet consecrated 

ï the mere pouring out of some portion of long accumulating, long pent-

up pain in to a vessel whence it could not be again diffused ï had done 

me good. I was é solaced.ò (234)  

But it is now dark, Lucy gets lost in a part of town with which she is 

unfamiliar, and due to the extremity of her suffering that is both 

psychological and physical (she is not only suffering the effects of sleep 

deprivation but has eaten practically nothing for days), she collapses into 

unconsciousness. All Lucy can recall is that ñInstead of sinking on the 

steps as I intended, I seemed to pitch headlong down an abyss,ò (236), 

and on awakening, somewhat serendipitously in the home of her 

godmother, she speaks of her soul re-enter[ing] the prison of this earthly 

world with pain and reluctanceò (237). Lucy has been administered to 

with tenderness by her godmother and Graham. But the point I want to 

make in recounting this pivotal episode, is not only to alert you to the 

symptoms of depression shared by Lucy and Charlotte, but also to the 

poverty of understanding (not only amongst the general population but 

also amongst medical practitioners) and the unavailability of cure, 

medical or religious.  

During the brief days of Lucyôs recovery under the care of those who 

come closest to ófamilyô, Graham, alias, Dr. John, is shocked to discover 
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that the house keeper is as yet unaware of her absence, so deep was 

Lucyôs isolation. óWith what care you must have been waited on!ô, he 

remarks with some sarcasm, and inquires why the school proprietor, 

Madam Beck,  had left her alone. The conversation leads to Dr. John 

realising the extent to which Lucyôs illness is ónervousô. When Dr. John 

asks if Lucyôs ñnervous system bore a good share of the suffering?ò, she 

remarks that she is not sure what her nervous system is, but that she was 

ñdreadfully low-spirited,ò to which Dr. John responds that this ñdisabled 

me from helping you by pill or potion. Medicine can give nobody good 

spirits. My art halts at the threshold of Hypochondria: she just looks in 

and sees a chamber of torture, but can neither say nor do much. Cheerful 

society would be of use; you should be as little alone as possible; you 

should take plenty of exercise.ò (257) Given Lucyôs state of 

óhypochondriaô would appear to be the result of long-term isolation from 

human company, at least human intelligence and spirit to which she 

feels a correspondence, the prescribed remedy might indeed have some 

effect, but this is very much dependent upon the state of depression ï its 

depth and the extent of its injury to the body and mind. It is interesting 

to note the use of the word ñhypochondriaò which the notes to my 

edition claim meant ñmorbid depressionò in the period of Charlotteôs 

usage, but that has come to be associated with imaginary ills, or a 

predisposition to exaggerate claims to suffering ï a purely psychological 

state - so little is the human ñnervous systemò understood. Medical 

practitioners Todd and Dewhurst contend that although Charlotte ñhad 

more than her fair share of ill-health, disappointment, and bereavement 

... the stresses to which she was subjected served only to catalyse attacks 

of despondency to which she was inherently prone and which at times 

occurred in the absence of an obvious precipitating factor.ò (215) This 

diagnosis is supported by a letter Charlotte writes to Ellen in 1836 in 

which she speaks of having ñsome qualities which make me very 

miserable, some feelings that you [Ellen] can have no participation in, 

that few people in the world can at all understand. I donôt pride myself 

on these peculiarities, I strive to control and suppress them as much as I 

can, but they burst out sometimes, and then those that see the explosion 

despise me, and I hate myself for days afterwards.ò (qtd Todd, 209) 
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Villette makes clear Charlotteôs frustration and anguish over a lack of 

understanding of these ñpeculiaritiesò that she is unable to control. There 

is self-blame and mortification, but there is also frustration and 

condemnation of others who despise her. The extent of Charlotteôs 

frustration is channelled into her response to Lucyôs suicidal feelings, as 

she writes, through her protagonist, ñReligious reader, you will preach to 

me along sermon about what I have just written, and so will you, 

moralist; and you, stern sage: you, stoic, will frown; you, cynic, sneer; 

you, epicure, laugh. Well, each and all, take it your own way. I accept 

the sermon, frown, sneer and laugh; perhaps you are all right: and 

perhaps, circumstanced like me, you would have been, like me, wrong.ò 

(228) 

Charlotte here maintains the view that only the individual who has 

suffered this debilitating óillnessô, is qualified to assess óweaknessô 

(whether it be physical, spiritual or moral), or to pass judgment.  
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[Fig.6 Melencolia by Albrecht Durer, 1514] 


